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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We are going to

          3  start this hearing today. We are going hear

          4  testimony on Intro 21, which seeks to improve public

          5  and environmental health in the City by creating a

          6  comprehensive program for remediating and reusing

          7  the City's brownfields sites.

          8                 As many of you know, the brownfield

          9  site is defined as any real property, the clean up

         10  or reuse of which may be complicated by the presence

         11  or potential presence of contamination such as

         12  petroleum or hazardous waste.

         13                 There are an estimated 3,000 to 4,000

         14  acres of brownfields in New York City. You hear a

         15  lot of numbers. I don't think anybody really knows.

         16  It is something with a lot of zeros on it. There are

         17  a lot of brownfields out there which certainly

         18  create health risks to residents and poses serious

         19  obstacles to the revitalization of the local

         20  communities and economic development efforts.

         21                 In addition, brownfield properties

         22  are often concentrated in moderate and low- income

         23  areas and also in communities of color. Places that

         24  have long history of abandonment, disinvestment, and

         25  environmental degradation. Many people in these
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          2  areas suffer from disproportionally high incidences

          3  of disease including asthma and cancer.

          4                 In November 2004, this Committee held

          5  an Oversight Hearing on the City's Brownfields

          6  efforts. That hearing covered a lot of ground and

          7  identified a number of needs.

          8                 We heard from witnesses that the City

          9  under the able guidance of OEC Director Bob

         10  Kulikowski (who is here with us today), has

         11  undertaken a number of very positive efforts related

         12  to brownfields. That was the testimony that we heard

         13  at the previous hearing. However, we also heard from

         14  witnesses that there is a need to institutionalize

         15  and to augment these efforts through a cohesive

         16  program, one based on a comprehensive plan of

         17  action.

         18                 I'm going to have to put the glasses

         19  on even though they are broken and they look silly.

         20  I'm going to wear them anyway because I can't see.

         21  This testimony came to inspire what is now Intro 21,

         22  which I sponsor for re- introduction this year.

         23  Under this legislation, the City will be responsible

         24  for developing a plan to guidance overall

         25  brownfields efforts. This bill also makes sure that
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          2  the City is working with the community groups and

          3  with non- profit and for profit developers to get

          4  funding to provide technical support to make sure

          5  that there is proper coordination and to bolster

          6  successful approaches to brownfield investigations.

          7  And also mediations on an active and ongoing basis

          8  and recognizing the vast brownfields expertise that

          9  we have in the private sector and also in the

         10  community based organizations and among other non-

         11  governmental entities. Intro 21 will create an

         12  advisory group that will tap these invaluable

         13  resources to help the City create its brownfields

         14  action plan.

         15                 Given the economic and environmental

         16  significance of brownfields to New York City,

         17  creating a brownfields program including a

         18  comprehensive plan, an expert non- governmental

         19  advisors is clearly needed. Such an approach will

         20  make a significant long- lasting and much needed

         21  contribution to the City's brownfields effort and

         22  for their promises to transform unproductive

         23  hazardous properties into engines of economic

         24  development for the City's neediest communities.

         25                 I'd like to thank the witnesses who
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          2  are here today. The people who have an interest in

          3  this very important topic. This is a very exciting

          4  time for brownfields development now with the, I

          5  guess, soon to be finalized final regulations that

          6  were put forth pursuant to the 2003 State

          7  Brownfields Law. Particularly, when we might see the

          8  City's overall economy cooling just a bit, I think

          9  it is important that we (Wall Street may be cooling

         10  down or whatever), but I think it is important that

         11  we get out there and make money the old fashion way

         12  by developing properties, getting rid of pollution,

         13  bring in development and revitalizing all areas of

         14  the City. I couldn't think of a more worthy

         15  endeavor. That's what this bill seeks to do.

         16                 I'd like to thank Bob for being here

         17  and all his efforts and we want to help him and the

         18  rest of the City and have the best brownfields

         19  program that we can possibly can have. With that

         20  said, I also want to recognize that we are joined by

         21  Council Member Vallone from Queens; Council Member

         22  Koppell from the Bronx. He is sort of straddling two

         23  hearings that are kind of going on; Council Member

         24  Lanza who is right on cue and we would like to call

         25  Bob Kulikowski from the Office of Environmental
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          2  Coordination. I'd like to thank the staff in a

          3  special way for bringing us to this point. Counsel

          4  to the Committee, Donna DeCostanzo; Policy Analyst,

          5  Dan Avery; I think I saw Veronica McNeil, our

          6  finance person. My own Chief of Staff, Peter

          7  Washburn (phonetic).

          8                 We will have the testimony here of

          9  Mr. Kulikowski. I just want to recognize Bob's

         10  efforts. Everyone recognizes Bob as a great champion

         11  of brownfield development. We are fortunate to have

         12  him. People know him throughout the City and the

         13  metropolitan region and people who are involved in

         14  brownfield certainly know of the good work of Bob

         15  Kulikowski. We are happy to have you here, Bob. And

         16  Donna will give the oath and then you can begin your

         17  statement. Pleasure to have you.

         18                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

         19  your right hand. In the testimony that you are about

         20  to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the truth,

         21  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         22                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Yes.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         24                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Good morning,

         25  Chairman Gennaro, members of the Committee. Thank
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          2  you for your very kind words. I really appreciate

          3  it. I have to also recognize the efforts of my

          4  staff, as well as folks at City Hall that work

          5  collectively on this along with other departments

          6  that I will mention in a while.

          7                 My name is Robert Kulikowski and I am

          8  the Director of New York City Office of

          9  Environmental Coordination, which, among its other

         10  responsibilities, coordinates the City's brownfields

         11  efforts. Thank you for the opportunity to testify on

         12  Intro 21, and I really appreciate the Committee's

         13  flexibility in rescheduling this hearing so that I

         14  could testify personally.

         15                 Since I last testified on this

         16  legislation, well over a year ago, much has changed

         17  in the brownfields arena. I will speak to that

         18  shortly, but first I would like to recap some

         19  background information for the newer members of the

         20  Committee, including some basic information on the

         21  City's brownfields efforts and my office's role. OEC

         22  is responsible for coordinating the City's

         23  brownfields efforts, including supporting those of

         24  other agencies that are involved with brownfields to

         25  ensure as much synergy and consistency as possible
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          2  City- wide.

          3                 These agencies, among others, include

          4  the Departments of Environmental Protection, Housing

          5  Preservation and Development, Parks and Recreation,

          6  City Planning, Health and Mental Hygiene, Law, the

          7  Office of Management and Budget, and the New York

          8  City Economic Development Corporation. By working

          9  together, this core group of agencies advances the

         10  City's basic goals of its brownfields program;

         11  protecting health and the environmental, promoting

         12  economic development, housing production, and access

         13  to open space and promoting sustainable re- use of

         14  an important City resource.

         15                 OEC has two staff members who work

         16  full time on brownfields; Leah Lan (phonetic) and

         17  Mark MacIntre (phonetic). While we currently advance

         18  brownfields revitalization in numerous ways, we

         19  don't have the resources to coordinate all

         20  brownfield revitalization efforts among community

         21  groups nor to support the proposed advisory

         22  committee. We are happy to brief the Council

         23  periodically about our activities, initiatives, and

         24  accomplishments.

         25                 As was stated earlier, New York State
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          2  defines a brownfield as real property, the

          3  redevelopment or reuse of which may be complicated

          4  by the presence or potential presence of a

          5  contaminant. Throughout the country, brownfields are

          6  often located in historically industrial areas, such

          7  as waterfronts and transportation corridors.

          8  However, in New York City, brownfields are not

          9  confined solely to such areas because of the

         10  historic, unregulated use of fill, illegal dumping,

         11  and the absence of zoning regulations prior to 1916,

         12  which allowed potentially polluting activities to

         13  occur throughout the City's five boroughs.

         14                 Hence, contaminated sites resulting

         15  from small commercial or manufacturing operations,

         16  such as gas stations, dry cleaners or furniture

         17  makers, often less than one acre in size, are found

         18  in neighborhoods regardless of zoning and land use

         19  considerations. We are often asked if there is a

         20  list of New York City brownfields. Since State and

         21  federal laws define a brownfield very broadly to

         22  include real property where redevelopment may be

         23  complicated by the presence or potential presence of

         24  contamination, there is both an economic development

         25  component (complicating of redevelopment) and an
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          2  environmental component (the potential presence of

          3  contamination) and, thus, it would be highly

          4  speculative to identify a definitive list of

          5  brownfield sites in the City. Also, the status of

          6  sites in our large City is constantly changing and

          7  property owners and community advocates alike have

          8  expressed concern about stigmatizing properties or

          9  neighborhoods by labeling them brownfields.

         10                 Therefore, the City has focused its

         11  efforts on supporting public and private efforts to

         12  address brownfield redevelopment, rather than on the

         13  resource intensive and somewhat dubious effort to

         14  count them. In New York State, brownfields can be

         15  redeveloped through a variety of mechanisms and I

         16  should say in New York City particularly.

         17  Participation as a volunteer as in the former

         18  Voluntary Cleanup Program of DEC or the statutory

         19  Brownfield Cleanup Program, through an Order on

         20  Consent an administrative cleanup agreement between

         21  the State and the party responsible for the

         22  contamination or release; private, at risk cleanups;

         23  properties in projects undergoing environmental

         24  review (which involves either remediation that is

         25  overseen by the City's Department of Environmental

                                                            12

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  Protection and/or restrictive declarations or

          3  institutional controls on the property; E-

          4  designations through up zoning actions and for

          5  municipally owned properties, federal or state

          6  programs, the EPA, federal monies or New York State

          7  Environmental Restoration Programs.

          8                 Each of these programs has its own

          9  requirements and/or site eligibility criteria,

         10  making a uniform approach to brownfield

         11  redevelopment particularly challenging. Because many

         12  brownfields are redeveloped privately and the City

         13  has enjoyed a relatively strong real estate market

         14  recently, the City does not track each and every

         15  parcel of vacant land with respect to its status as

         16  a potential brownfield. However, OEC does track and

         17  monitor the status of sites that are in formal

         18  assessment or remediation programs; sites that are

         19  former manufactured gas plants or MGPs; sites within

         20  the City that have applied for inclusion in the

         21  state's Brownfield Cleanup Program; and sites that

         22  have undergone the City's environmental review

         23  process.

         24                 As mentioned at the beginning, the

         25  brownfield landscape in New York City has changed
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          2  considerably in the past couple of years. This is

          3  due to several factors, including: The establishment

          4  of a statutory cleanup program by the State with

          5  financial incentives, which I might add, are

          6  extremely lucrative and liability release which is

          7  very generous; establishment of the Brownfield

          8  Opportunity Area grant program to involve

          9  communities in planning around brownfields and

         10  lastly, a dwindling supply of developable land in

         11  the City.

         12                 The Administration certainly shares

         13  the Council's goal of redeveloping brownfields and

         14  encouraging community involvement in doing so where

         15  appropriate. Brownfield redevelopment should

         16  consider perhaps first and foremost the supply of

         17  potential brownfields; incentives for private

         18  developers; the extent of the liability release;

         19  funding for municipal projects and community

         20  involvement. I'd like to speak to each of these

         21  briefly.

         22                 Supply. Although, for the reasons

         23  discussed above, the City does not maintain a formal

         24  list of potential brownfields. We know that New York

         25  City's portfolio of developable land is dwindling
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          2  and potential brownfields are nearly all that is

          3  left to meet growing land use pressures. These are

          4  often smaller non- contiguous parcels owned by

          5  different owners, and they tend to be more difficult

          6  to develop.

          7                 Our challenge now is not to jump

          8  start redevelopment on brownfields since market

          9  forces will drive this, but rather to find enough

         10  land to meet the City's economic development and

         11  growth needs. With the advent of financial

         12  incentives from the State, in conjunction with area-

         13  wide rezonings by the City Planning Commission and

         14  the Council, there is increased interest from

         15  developers in taking advantage of both zoning

         16  incentives (such as transfer of unused development

         17  rights) and the brownfield financial incentives.

         18                 The City currently addresses

         19  brownfield redevelopment comprehensively. OEC

         20  provides information to any member of the public

         21  about brownfields funding, planning, networking,

         22  governmental resources, and educational programs

         23  through forums such as our website, our e- mail

         24  distribution list, presentations at events, and

         25  answering public inquiries among others. We've never
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          2  turned down a request to speak to academic,

          3  community, environmental, or business groups.

          4  However, while we share information and make

          5  referrals, OEC has neither the financial nor the

          6  human resources to provide outside consulting

          7  services.

          8                 Providing wholesale support to every

          9  proposal of any community group, non- profit, for-

         10  profit developer, or government agency involved in

         11  brownfields may not be practical or wise. Groups

         12  sometimes have conflicting agendas and different

         13  levels of expertise. Certain programs such as the

         14  State's BOA grants, do require that the City supply

         15  a letter of support for community group initiated

         16  applications. In these cases, OEC consults with City

         17  agencies working in these areas about the merits of

         18  the proposals and establishes whether or not the

         19  request is consistent with the City's policies and

         20  plans. In many other situations, the City does not

         21  have a defined role in the process.

         22                 Recognizing that the City is not the

         23  regulatory authority, generally, the State's

         24  brownfield law provides substantial tax credit

         25  incentives to parties who enter the Brownfield
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          2  Cleanup Program, accomplish a satisfactory cleanup

          3  and obtain a certificate of completion. Unlike any

          4  other State, New York State provides a brownfield

          5  redevelopment tax credit that includes components

          6  for costs of site remediation, on- site ground water

          7  remediation, and tangible property construction, as

          8  well as environmental insurance and real property

          9  taxes. Upon successful clean up, the liability

         10  release issued by the Department of Environmental

         11  Conservation is a State- wide liability release and

         12  prevents both the Attorney General and Comptroller

         13  from further proceedings, except for the usual

         14  disclaimers.

         15                 To date, there have been applications

         16  for 96 sites in New York City to participate in the

         17  statutory Brownfield Cleanup Program and DEC has

         18  accepted 40 of these. Four have been denied, 17

         19  applications are still pending, and 35 have been

         20  withdrawn. These data, taken together with the

         21  Governor's budget proposal this year to exclude

         22  Brownfield Cleanup sites in Manhattan between Canal

         23  and 96 Street from the more lucrative tax

         24  incentives, clearly indicates the popularity of this

         25  program. What remains to be seen is how well the
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          2  program works from beginning to end. Several issues

          3  remain to be resolved.

          4                 The implementing regulations have not

          5  yet been finalized. The City and a number of other

          6  parties commented on the first draft and, as a

          7  result, the DEC will re- issue them this summer for

          8  another round of comments. Issues surrounding site

          9  eligibility for those with historic fill are not

         10  resolved either. And, while no project has gone

         11  through the entire process culminating with the

         12  receipt of tax credits, in 2005, the first three

         13  sites completed and that completed clean up under

         14  the new State program and obtained certificates of

         15  completion. One of these is in New York City, the

         16  Atlas Park site in Glendale, Queens in Council

         17  Member Gallagher's district; the other two are

         18  located upstate in the Buffalo area. These now have

         19  the opportunity to apply for the State tax credits.

         20  The Brownfield Cleanup Program may indeed be a

         21  significant tool in addressing environmentally

         22  impaired City sites, but it is yet still too early

         23  to tell.

         24                 A particularly pervasive problem in

         25  brownfield redevelopment in the City is historic
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          2  urban fill, which frequently contains contaminants

          3  such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, heavy

          4  metals, petroleum wastes, and volatile organic

          5  compounds. The use of this material was widespread

          6  and ubiquitous, and we now have problems with

          7  finding cost- effective methods of disposal and

          8  DEC's determination that sites solely contaminated

          9  with urban fill are not eligible for the Brownfield

         10  Cleanup Program.

         11                 In the past four years, the City has

         12  participated in the mitigation and remediation of

         13  scores of sites across the five boroughs. A major

         14  role is played by the Department of Environmental

         15  Protection's Bureau of Environmental Planning and

         16  Assessment that pursuant to the City's environmental

         17  review law, instructs applicants on how to

         18  investigate and, where necessary, mitigate the

         19  impacts of hazardous substances at dozens of

         20  projects that undergo City environmental review.

         21  This encompasses addressing upzoned properties in

         22  conjunction with the Department of City Planning and

         23  the Department of Buildings to remove these so-

         24  called e- designation from the zoning map to allow

         25  development to proceed once hazardous materials
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          2  issues have been satisfactorily addressed.

          3                 The City also remediates brownfields

          4  directly. For example, the City's Economic

          5  Development Corporation cleaned up a former

          6  manufactured gas plant site in Hunts Points, in

          7  Council Member Arroyo's district, to make way for

          8  the relocation of the Fulton Fish Market and other

          9  commercial and industrial projects. EDC's experience

         10  at Hunt's Point has been a positive one. Under the

         11  State's Voluntary Cleanup Program, the predecessor

         12  to the statutory Brownfield Cleanup Program, EDC has

         13  entered into nine voluntary agreements with DEC

         14  under which EDC has investigated and removed

         15  significant quantities of coal tar from the site.

         16                 The experience has been positive

         17  because the City, working with DEC, has implemented

         18  risk based cleanups at Hunts Point, removing major

         19  contamination at a reasonable cost that EDC will

         20  recover from Con Edison, the party responsible for

         21  the contamination. In addition, the amount of time

         22  required to take each of these sites through the VCP

         23  has been reasonable, about three years.

         24                 With respect to funding, the City has

         25  been aggressive in seeking outside funding for
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          2  brownfields since the beginning of the Bloomberg

          3  Administration. All funding efforts are coordinated

          4  through the Office of Environmental Coordination.

          5  Staff track funding opportunities and deadlines and

          6  proactively share these opportunities with agencies

          7  with brownfield interests. Outside funding is

          8  primarily from state or federal sources. At the

          9  federal level, the EPA is the primary source and

         10  although there are programs at other federal

         11  agencies, these are more difficult to navigate.

         12                 A major problem with obtaining

         13  federal EPA funds has been insufficient

         14  appropriations in Washington. The Small Business

         15  Liability Relief and Brownfields Revitalization Act

         16  of 2002 authorized $250 million annually for the EPA

         17  brownfield program, including $165 million for

         18  assessment and clean up grants. Unfortunately, in

         19  federal fiscal years 03 through 06, Congress has

         20  appropriated only an average $165 million per year

         21  of the $250 million, less than two thirds the amount

         22  authorized by law. In the same time period, Congress

         23  has appropriated only an average of $90 million for

         24  the assessment and cleanup grants to communities;

         25  perhaps the most critical component of the program.
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          2  This is approximately a 45 percent reduction from

          3  the $165 million authorized resulting in a funding

          4  rate of less than one in three of the eligible

          5  applications nationwide.

          6                 Despite this, the City has been

          7  successful in obtaining EPA funding in each of these

          8  years. Further, the City's federal legislative

          9  agenda highlights this issue and request that

         10  Congress remedy it. The date this hearing was

         11  originally scheduled, I was in Washington as a

         12  member of the National Brownfield Association's New

         13  York State Chapter Executive Committee speaking with

         14  members of the New York delegation on the importance

         15  of having full funding for these programs.

         16                 Prior to 2002, the City received a

         17  1996 EPA grant that provided funds for policy

         18  research on brownfields and also allowed the initial

         19  assessment of five sites in a pilot program.

         20  Following the 2000 law that established funding

         21  through EPA, the City has applied for this funding

         22  successfully. In federal fiscal year 2003, the City

         23  received $750,000 to help capitalize a revolving

         24  loan fund for remediation and $400,000 in assessment

         25  grants to characterize several sites in Brooklyn for
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          2  future housing projects in Council Members Yassky

          3  and James district.

          4                 In federal fiscal year 2004, the City

          5  received $270,000 to complete site assessment for

          6  Mariners Marsh on Staten Island, in Council Member

          7  McMahon's district, which will become park land. In

          8  federal fiscal year 2005, the City received $200,000

          9  for assessment of sites to be determined during the

         10  tenure of the grant. And this past December, we

         11  submitted $800,000 worth of applications for

         12  community wide assessments and for cleanups at

         13  Mariners Marsh and the High Line, in Speaker Quinn's

         14  district. Speaking with EPA yesterday, they

         15  anticipate announcing these awards by the end of

         16  this week. So we have our fingers crossed again.

         17                 As noted above, EPA has not been

         18  fully funded for these grant programs and

         19  competition is extremely keen nationwide and we are

         20  proud that the City has been consistently successful

         21  in this area. Also, sites must meet EPA eligibility

         22  criteria, and this may limit the sites that the City

         23  can propose. Under the State's Clean Water/Clean Air

         24  Bond Act Environmental Restoration Program, the City

         25  has been awarded over $25 million, approximately
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          2  $1.7 million for investigation and $23.7 million for

          3  remediation. Of the $200 million initially

          4  available, $94.5 million has been awarded statewide,

          5  noting that the City has more than 25 percent of

          6  those funds leaving just over $105 million still

          7  available. For landfill closures under the State's

          8  Environmental Quality Bond Act of 1986, the City can

          9  receive 75 percent reimbursement for its costs,

         10  estimated at this time to be roughly $180 million.

         11  These state and federal awards to the City are

         12  summarized in Attachment A to the testimony.

         13                 With respect to community involvement

         14  in brownfield redevelopment, this is addressed by

         15  several avenues. In federal fiscal year 03, as I

         16  mentioned previously, the $750,000 awarded to the

         17  City for a revolving loan fund which included a

         18  required $150,000 City match, is being used in a

         19  unique program called the New York Metro Brownfields

         20  Redevelopment Fund Program; a partnership of the

         21  City, Nassau County, the Low Income Investment Fund

         22  and New Partners for Community Revitalization. It is

         23  the first such fund of its kind in the country that

         24  uses EPA grant money to provide credit enhancement

         25  for loans and it is anticipated that this investment
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          2  will leverage at least $20 million in private sector

          3  funds.

          4                 The purpose of this program is to

          5  provide a new source of financing to support

          6  community revitalization goals through the cleanup

          7  and reuse of brownfield sites in distressed

          8  neighborhoods in the New York metropolitan area. I

          9  should point out that loans that are backed by New

         10  York City funds will be used only for projects

         11  within the five boroughs and similar provisions

         12  apply for Nassau County. We anticipate officially

         13  launching the fund in the next several months and

         14  depending on its initial success, the City will

         15  apply for additional federal funding to expand the

         16  program.

         17                 Under the 2003 New York State law,

         18  the Brownfield Opportunity Area or BOA program was

         19  established. Essentially a community- based planning

         20  effort, grants are available to municipalities, non-

         21  profit organizations or partnerships of these two.

         22  For the first round of funding, a total of nine

         23  applications were submitted for areas within New

         24  York City. Of these, the City was a partner with

         25  non- profit organizations on two; Sherman Creek in
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          2  Council Member's Martinez' district and the East

          3  Williamsburg In- Place Industrial Park in Brooklyn

          4  in Council Member Reyna's district. Last year, the

          5  City supported five community- based BOA proposals.

          6  We are awaiting an MOU from the governor and the

          7  legislature to learn which of these groups will be

          8  funded. The 2006 proposals are due to the State at

          9  the end of this month, and we are working currently

         10  with several community groups to provide support

         11  letters.

         12                 In summary and to recap several

         13  points made earlier: Land supply, because vacant and

         14  under utilized land is a valuable commodity in New

         15  York City, the Administration has intensified its

         16  efforts in the past several years to ensure that

         17  brownfields are addressed. Incentives: Judging by

         18  the number of applications to enter the Brownfield

         19  Cleanup Program, this has been successful in

         20  attracting interest to the financial incentives and

         21  the liability release authorized in the State's 2003

         22  law.

         23                 Funding for municipal projects: The

         24  City has been aggressive in seeking funding for site

         25  investigation and remediation from a variety of
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          2  sources; although it must be recognized that each

          3  program has its own eligibility requirements for

          4  sites, which can be a limiting factor. Community

          5  involvement: Both the New York Metro Brownfield

          6  Redevelopment Fund and the State's Brownfield

          7  Opportunity Area grant program provide mechanisms

          8  that foster community involvement in brownfield

          9  redevelopment. Additionally, OEC is available to

         10  speak with community groups at any time about sites

         11  of concern in their neighborhood.

         12                 Our approach has been City- wide,

         13  attempting to strike a balance with sites in each of

         14  the five boroughs, prioritizing those that may be of

         15  particular health or environmental concern, are

         16  inhibiting economic development or otherwise

         17  compromising the City's efforts to move forward. I

         18  believe that will be met with even further success

         19  in the future. However, at this time, we still do no

         20  have sufficient experience with the State's program

         21  to pronounce it an unqualified success.

         22                 There are a number of issues that

         23  need to be resolved, including, but not necessarily

         24  limited to the promulgation of the final

         25  implementing regulations; resolution of eligibility
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          2  requirements, particularly with respect to urban

          3  issues so germane to New York City like the use of

          4  historic fill; the equitable distribution of tax

          5  credits authorized by the legislation, ensuring that

          6  the City is not harmed by any potential

          7  modifications to these programs, and lack of

          8  participants that have successfully navigated the

          9  program from application phase through receipt of

         10  tax credits.

         11                 Until these matters are resolved or

         12  there is knowledge gained, it is probably premature

         13  for the City to establish any program that would

         14  attempt to formalize how to address brownfield

         15  redevelopment. Given the state of flux and evolution

         16  of the State program, additional constraints would

         17  only serve to reduce the effectiveness of how the

         18  City could adapt to this still changing environment.

         19  Thank you for the opportunity to comment and I would

         20  be happy to answer any questions you may have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         22  you, Bob. I appreciate your comprehensive testimony

         23  and all of your good work on brownfields. I just

         24  want to indicate that even though we recognized him

         25  earlier, I will recognize him again, Council Member
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          2  Koppell who has got two hearings going on at the

          3  same time. Council Member Mark- Viverito from

          4  Manhattan, pleasure to have you here as well. It is

          5  remarkable in a body of work that your office has

          6  been able to do. It is really the only last

          7  paragraph of your statement; however, where you talk

          8  in anyway to the legislation that we have before us.

          9  I was wondering if you could opine a little bit on

         10  our bill and what it seeks to do and not do and what

         11  it is that you like and don't like about it.

         12                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Yes, I think I can do

         13  that. Overall, as I said earlier, the Administration

         14  certainly agrees with the intent and the philosophy

         15  of getting brownfields in the City redeveloped.

         16  Particularly because it is becoming a valuable

         17  commodity and we don't have a lot of land left and

         18  we're not going to get anymore. What we have to do

         19  is we have to reuse land that's either being unused

         20  or unutilized. My summary paragraph at the end sort

         21  of sums up our feeling in that with everything

         22  that's going on, there are lot's of moving parts at

         23  this point. We don't have implementing regulations

         24  from the State. We don't have the resolution on the

         25  eligibility criteria. In speaking with the State,
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          2  there are a number of lawsuits that are pending

          3  about eligibility.

          4                 We don't have anybody that has really

          5  gone through the program and actually gotten a check

          6  from the State or a tax credit from the State. As I

          7  said, there is only one site out in Queens that is

          8  eligible in New York City. A lot of these things are

          9  going to change and in order to be able to adapt as

         10  quickly as possible to these changes and to

         11  influence the changes, at this point in time and I'm

         12  not saying that a comprehensive program is not good,

         13  but it seems to be a little constraining at this

         14  time if we put all these things into place.

         15                 Certainly, flexibility is really

         16  what's needed right now. If you know the brownfield

         17  sites in the City, the ones that are formerly

         18  designated because they are in some sort of program,

         19  the gamete of types of sites is everyone is so

         20  different from the other. If you look at a class of

         21  sites like the former manufactured gas plants, you

         22  go from the first site at public place in Brooklyn

         23  to the Williamsburg site in Green Point. Even though

         24  they are the same types of contamination, the

         25  geology of the site is different. The way the

                                                            30

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  contaminants have migrated is totally differently.

          3  How they have impacted surrounding properties and

          4  surrounding properties have impacted them make each

          5  site unique. As I said earlier, it's really hard to

          6  say, here is a cookie cutter approach. That works

          7  for projects like gas stations and we are going to

          8  be running out of gas stations soon.

          9                 The other types of sites whether if

         10  it is a dry cleaner, the State is dealing with an

         11  issue up in the Bronx, where they are finding perk,

         12  the dry cleaning fluid in a plume that's running

         13  sort of underneath the middle of the Bronx. And they

         14  have no idea where the source is. There are a lot of

         15  complicating factors that really preclude saying, if

         16  you do step a, step b, step c, step d, that you are

         17  going to come up with a resolution to this. I think

         18  that's really the experience that we've found in

         19  working both with community groups and the BOA

         20  program, with partners in other agencies is that you

         21  have to look at each site as a unique site. You need

         22  to have as much flexibility as you can possibly

         23  have. That allows you adapt as quickly as possible.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         25  Perhaps though, I know you are trying to do a lot

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  with limited resources and I'm sure you wish you had

          3  more people at your disposal to do many things --

          4                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Budget time is coming

          5  up. You guys can give us more people.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Perhaps, I think

          7  one of the things separate and apart from the

          8  substance of the legislation would be the overall

          9  focus on what it is that you folks do and to get you

         10  the additional resources that you would need. I

         11  think this would be a possibility. It is hard for me

         12  to envision a way or it is hard for me to envision

         13  that we couldn't conceive of someway to craft a bill

         14  that allowed for the evolution of the overall

         15  brownfields, landscape and allowed for the kind of

         16  flexibility that you obviously need. I know that we

         17  are going to be hearing testimony from folks who

         18  work closely with you and to be committed who have

         19  their own views on whether or not what we are

         20  putting forward here could make a positive

         21  difference.

         22                 I have some other questions that I

         23  would like to ask of you. Some more philosophical

         24  questions about the bill. Are there any elements of

         25  the bill that you think are positive and
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          2  constructive that would be a step forward for the

          3  City's brownfields efforts?

          4                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: I think there are a

          5  number. The eight point program that you lay out

          6  with the exception of the advisory committee, the

          7  City actually does those now. I think there is not

          8   --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Then you would

         10  be sort of arguing for the bill because it would

         11  institutionalize something --

         12                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: -- Which is now

         14  kind of a matter of policy for this enlightened

         15  Administration. But if we get subsequent

         16  unenlightened Administrations, we will kind of have

         17  an institutional legal paradigm that would be in

         18  place.

         19                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Two points to make

         20  for that. I think as you said, and thank you for the

         21  compliment for the Administration, we have another

         22  close to four years to go. I think the brownfield

         23  issue in New York State will change remarkably then.

         24  I think while the points that are made in the bill

         25  are good points and as I said, we are already doing
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          2  them, to institutionalize them to sort of set them

          3  into concrete basically then ties our hands to react

          4  to what appears to be a rapidly changing front at

          5  this point.

          6                 Perhaps once some of the issues that

          7  I mentioned are resolved like implementing

          8  regulations with their attendance, sort of clean up

          9  objectives, ground water issues which is

         10  particularly an important issue for New York City

         11  and the other having a few more properties go

         12  through the program to have the experience, it would

         13  be probably be possible to craft something that is

         14  more responsive once we have some more information.

         15  I think that there is two key points right now. One,

         16  we just don't have enough information because the

         17  State program is in flux and two, we don't have

         18  enough experience so we need to have the flexibility

         19  to adapt to the changing horizon in Albany.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Not to belabor

         21  this aspect of it, but I'm not completely clear how

         22  the bill would be so constraining. I'm not getting

         23  that logic that yes, there is a changing landscape

         24  in Albany and other areas with respect to brownfield

         25  development. I'm not quite following how the bill as
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          2  written would constrain what it is that you do and

          3  create sort of like an inflexibility.

          4                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: If this became a

          5  statute, we would have to follow it. Right now, if

          6  we see that a policy is not working or something in

          7  Albany has changed where we need to change the

          8  policy, we don't have to go back and amend the

          9  Administrative Code which takes a bunch of time. We

         10  have to come and make a bill. We can do it like the

         11  same day. It provides a real speed of flexibility. I

         12  think the other important issue is what we are

         13  trying to do in the City is we are trying to make

         14  the process run faster. We do not need to add more

         15  process to an already rather cumbersome State

         16  process. I think it is really behooves us to keep

         17  things as streamlined as possible.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. As I'm

         19  formulating my other questions, I wish to recognize

         20  Council Member Koppell for some questions.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Kind of

         22  following up on the Chairman's questions, I take it

         23  that the City apparently advocates a haphazard

         24  uncoordinated program with no goals, benchmarks, or

         25  objectives.
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          2                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: I think that is

          3  totally untrue. The goals are to get brownfields

          4  redeveloped in this City. As I mentioned earlier,

          5  brownfields are a unique collection of properties

          6  and for the reasons I elaborated earlier, partially

          7  because of both the federal and State's statutory

          8  definitions of brownfields, it makes it hard to go

          9  out and make a computer data base of block and lot

         10  numbers that are brownfields. Therefore, you can't

         11  just go through a list and tick them off and say

         12  this has been developed and this is back in

         13  productive re- use. It just doesn't work that way.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I was

         15  being a bit facetious obviously. But if you read the

         16  bill, if you read the language of the bill, all the

         17  bill calls for is a comprehensive plan and

         18  identifies a very number of elements in the plan to

         19  the extent that you already have this, it doesn't

         20  seem to me that there is a problem with codifying

         21  the requirement. To the extent that you don't have

         22  it, it seems to me that unless you want to have a

         23  haphazard and uncoordinated approach, you should

         24  have it. That's why I made the somewhat facetious

         25  remark in the commencement of my testimony. Because
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          2  sometimes people talk in a vacuum.

          3                 What this bill calls for is a plan

          4  for tracking and approving federal and State funding

          5  for brownfield planning investigation or mediation

          6  and/or development. If you already have that, fine.

          7  If you don't have it, you should. Then it says you

          8  should have a plan for coordinating efforts

          9  regarding brownfield planning with community groups

         10  and not- for- profits and government agencies. If

         11  you don't have a plan to coordinate such efforts,

         12  you should. Then it says you should have a plan for

         13  providing technical assistance to community groups

         14  involved and as you know, there are many not- for-

         15  profits and community groups that are interested in

         16  this and if you don't have a plan for providing

         17  technical assistance, you should.

         18                 Then it says that it calls for a plan

         19  for assisting, facilitating, partnering or otherwise

         20  supporting the efforts of profit making and non-

         21  profit developers to take advantage of this program.

         22  Again, if you don't have a plan for doing that, if

         23  you do, fine. If you don't, you should. Then it says

         24  a plan for assessing possible financial incentives

         25  that can be provided and then it says a plan for
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          2  developing effective measures of measuring the

          3  progress that you are making in the redevelopment

          4  efforts. It says you should establish a strategy for

          5  the City such as rezoning incentives, allocation of

          6  private resources. Again, if you have all these

          7  things already, you could say well the bill calls

          8  for things that we already have.

          9                 I would suggest that if you don't

         10  have them, you should. And I would also suggest that

         11  one of the reasons that the Council is proposing

         12  this happen is because there is some feeling on the

         13  part of the Council and people out there who are

         14  interested in this issue that the City's plans, if

         15  not nonexisted, are inadequate. I don't understand

         16  your comments. Because all this does is to create a

         17   -- it doesn't say it has to be a fixed plan. It

         18  doesn't say it can't adjust to changes in law or

         19  experience. All it says is there should be a

         20  comprehensive brownfield remediation plan for the

         21  City. As I say again, if you have it, then it is

         22  just codifying what you already have. Then it also

         23  calls for semi- annual reports on this issue and to

         24  the extent this is deemed important and from an

         25  environmental point of view, I think it is. Having
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          2  such reports is a good idea.

          3                 The last thing it does is calling for

          4  an advisory committee which again brings some

          5  external expertise to the subject and seems to me to

          6  make sense. I don't really think, unless the City is

          7  advocating a haphazard uncoordinated approach with

          8  no goals, benchmarks or objectives, this bill should

          9  be unobjectionable.

         10                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: I think that you

         11  perhaps mischaracterized the City's intent. We

         12  definitely have a desire to have brownfields

         13  redeveloped and as far as the merits of the bill, I

         14  will consult with my colleagues in the various

         15  departments and we will consider it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         17  you, Council Member Koppell. I recognized Council

         18  Member Mark- Viverito for questions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: This

         20  is I think although well intention, I think just

         21  reading the testimony and hearing it, the way this

         22  currently works kind of exemplifies bureaucracy, I

         23  guess to a certain extent. There is so many elements

         24  that are coming together and it is very --

         25                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: It's a complicated
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          2  issue.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Very

          4  complicated and understandably so. Because there is

          5  a health component to this as well. I'm just going

          6  to take it a very local, I guess my question is very

          7  local with regards to my district in particular

          8  which is District 8 which is East Harlem, part of

          9  the west side --

         10                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Right. I'm familiar

         11  with it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: -- And

         13  the South Bronx. Whether there have been any

         14  brownfields registered or in the process of being

         15  analyzed and particularly I was actually wondering

         16  about the Washburn Wire Factory, the old Washburn

         17  Wire Factory location which is now being developed

         18  into East River Plaza whether there had been any

         19  analysis of that area.

         20                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: To the best of my

         21  recollection, the Washburn Wire Factory was begun

         22  prior to the State's passage of the Brownfield

         23  Cleanup Program in the 2003 law. So it has not been

         24  included.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: I
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          2  understand the RFP was designated in '99, but the

          3  actually breaking ground didn't happen until this

          4  year. Had there been any sort of discussion or

          5  anything going on with regards to that analysis.

          6                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Since it was a

          7  private developer, not with our office. Most of the

          8  properties that have applied to the Brownfield

          9  Cleanup Program since 2003, most of them have been

         10  private entities. Everything from gas stations to

         11  Bronx terminal market. It really would be an issue

         12  that should be spoken with the private developer

         13  about.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Just

         15  for me to understand because I trying to understand

         16  this.

         17                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Sure.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: The

         19  private developer would then have to apply --

         20                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: That's correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: -- And

         22  they would get the tax credits, et cetera or if it

         23  qualifies.

         24                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Right, if it

         25  qualifies.

                                                            41

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: I

          3  guess the issue here also with regards to the role

          4  of the community groups, if a community group wanted

          5  to file a complaint and say this land was never

          6  analyzed, potentially there could be a health risk

          7  for the community. How would that go about? At what

          8  point do they intersect the community organizations

          9  with the City or State entities?

         10                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: I think there are a

         11  lot of moving parts in that. I don't recall off the

         12  top of my head whether that was an as of right

         13  development or whether there was a zoning change

         14  that had to occur to allow that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: I

         16  think there was a zoning change.

         17                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: If there was a zoning

         18  change, there had to be an environmental review

         19  which is required as part of the ULURP process. And

         20  that environmental review should be on file in our

         21  office or at the Department of City Planning. And

         22  part of the environmental review is to look at

         23  hazardous materials. So there should have been a

         24  phase one environmental site assessment and if that

         25  indicated the necessity of phase two, environmental
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          2  site assessment for the site.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Okay.

          4                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: One of the issues

          5  that I mentioned during testimony is the use of

          6  historic urban fill. The State has basically made

          7  the decision that sites that are contaminated solely

          8  due to the historic use of fill are not eligible for

          9  the Brownfield Cleanup Program.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:

         11  Interesting.

         12                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: It is something that

         13  we are working on them with.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Now

         15  with regards to any other aspects of my district if

         16  there have been any applications. I know you don't

         17  know it intimately, but if anything flies out at you

         18  or anything is kind of triggered in your mind.

         19                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: I can't think of

         20  anything in that area. I know that there are some

         21  that are really close like in the South Bronx

         22  adjacent to your district, there is some around

         23  Hunts Point.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Now

         25  let me ask a question. You said that, if I
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          2  understood you correctly, what happens with City

          3  owned land? The City owned land that potentially may

          4  be eligible to be considered a brownfield. How does

          5  that work?

          6                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: There are two main

          7  programs. The State's Environmental Restoration

          8  Program is specifically geared toward

          9  municipalities. There is no set application

         10  deadline. It is a rolling application. If the City

         11  can apply for a piece of municipally owned land that

         12  they have found is contaminated and needs to be

         13  cleaned up, the State will then reimburse 90 percent

         14  of the clean up cost. There has to be a local match

         15  of ten percent. And that's a program that is

         16  exclusively for municipalities throughout the State.

         17                 The second major program are the EPA

         18  grants which we apply for and there are a bunch of

         19  federal laws that circle that determine site

         20  eligibility. It depends on when it was acquired and

         21  who polluted and is the responsible party available.

         22  As we identify properties that are municipally

         23  owned, we will apply to the federal government for

         24  funding. The problem with most of the brownfield

         25  funding is that it takes so long. If you have an
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          2  economic development project or a housing project

          3  that is really on a fast track, for the federal

          4  funding cycle, we apply in December. So we applied

          5  in December of 2005, the awards will be announced

          6  they think sometime this week or next. But funding

          7  won't begin until federal fiscal year 07 which is

          8  October 1. Funds aren't available for close to a

          9  year. You have to have some real long range planning

         10  and a project that is not exquisitely time

         11  sensitive. We find them to be very useful for park

         12  land where it is just cleaning up and it is going to

         13  revert to park land eventually so that there is not

         14  a build component that is time sensitive. Because as

         15  we know, time is money.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

         17  you, Mr. Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you,

         19  Council Member. Is it a policy goal for the City to

         20  encourage the development of class four properties

         21  that are City owned? That is not just a change of

         22  ownership, but redeveloping the sites into

         23  productive uses that may benefit communities?

         24                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: I'm sorry. Could you

         25  repeat that?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let's do this

          3  again. Is it a policy goal for the City to encourage

          4  the redevelopment of class four properties that are

          5  City owned? That is not just a change of ownership,

          6  but redeveloping these sites into productive uses

          7  that may benefit communities?

          8                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: I don't know that I

          9  can speak specifically to class four properties.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I get the sense

         11  that the questions get too -- I guess properties

         12  that have been abandoned that have come into City

         13  ownership. And I guess this is a way of stating has

         14  the City taken ownership of industrial properties

         15  that is redeveloping into productive uses for

         16  community benefit. How is that?

         17                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: I think we will have

         18  to get back to you on that one.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay.

         20                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Now that we know what

         21  the question is.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. Please

         23  describe how the City currently interacts with

         24  community groups when taking on brownfield projects.

         25  Do the local groups select potential sites? Do they
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          2  help determine the investigation and cleanup

          3  approaches? Do they help select post- cleanup sites?

          4  I guess the general discussion of the interaction

          5  between your agency and community groups. How does

          6  that work?

          7                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Yes, that works just

          8  fine.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Not to cut you

         10  off, but I just wanted to recognize that we are

         11  joined by Council Member Recchia and Council Member

         12  Stewart from the great borough of Brooklyn.

         13                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Good morning,

         14  gentlemen. Let me take a couple of those first. I'm

         15  not quite sure what you mean by selecting sites. We

         16  certainly are open when a community group comes to

         17  us and suggests that there might be a particular

         18  site that the City should consider for trying to get

         19  it into a particular brownfield program. It's going

         20  to depend on ownership whether it is a City owned

         21  site or privately owned site. There is different

         22  constraints.

         23                 As I mentioned earlier with respect

         24  to contamination, each site is unique. And as such I

         25  would like to give you a couple of examples of how
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          2  the City has interacted on some major projects over

          3  the past couple of years. Just a couple of other

          4  things. Do they help determine investigation and

          5  cleanup approaches? That's not really a City

          6  function that if a property is going through a

          7  regulatory cleanup, it is the State DEC or in

          8  certain instances the EPA that does that. With the

          9  caveat that both processes have opportunity for

         10  public involvement, the regulatory agencies will

         11  listen to community groups. However, the regulatory

         12  agency is the final technical arbitrator and

         13  decision maker when it comes to investigation and

         14  cleanup approaches.

         15                 Certainly, community groups have

         16  input into post- cleanup site uses. We have an

         17  example that is particularly good because it won

         18  last year's Phoenix award for excellence in

         19  brownfield redevelopment for this EPA region as the

         20  Rango Brewery (phonetic) site out in Brooklyn and it

         21  was a partnership between the City's housing

         22  preservation and development department and

         23  Bluestone Organization Developers and the Ridgewood

         24  Bushwick Senior Citizens Council, a not- for- profit

         25  group. That was a remarkable planning effort to

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  produce a great deal of affordable housing on a

          3  brownfield, the former Rango Brewery site to the

          4  point where the City, the private entity and the

          5  community group interacted all during the

          6  development of the process including having an

          7  international design competition to see what the

          8  community wanted and what they wanted to put there.

          9  That's one example.

         10                 In the BOA program, the City actually

         11  was the co- applicant with the Audeman (phonetic)

         12  partnership for economic development in the Sherman

         13  Creek area of Manhattan. Again, the City being

         14  represented by the Economic Development Corporation

         15  now has carried that project forward and it has been

         16  an extreme amount of interaction between the

         17  community groups, the local community. I know Amanda

         18  Burden (phonetic), the Chair of the City Planning

         19  Commission actually went up and sat for an entire

         20  day on a Saturday about a year and half ago to just

         21  listen to the community input.

         22                 Those two projects, the City's

         23  partnership with the New Partners for Community

         24  Revitalization, Mathy Stanislaus and Jodi Kass and

         25  LIFT and Nassau County is another vehicle for us to
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          2  interact with community groups. That's in addition

          3  to sort of the ad hoc cause that we get in the

          4  office. We're sort of known for brownfield central.

          5  If a community person looks at our website, they

          6  send us an e- mail saying can you tell me about

          7  brownfields. Does the City have a list of

          8  brownfields? Where can I find more information? We

          9  have a lot of interaction with community groups.

         10  Projects like the Keyspan Remediation of Public

         11  Place on the Gowanus Canal in Brooklyn. We along

         12  with the State have had a number of interactions

         13  with local community boards and the local community-

         14  based organizations about public place. There are a

         15  number. I could probably give you a list of

         16  considerably more than what we have just discussed.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you.

         18                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Sure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We had written a

         20  letter to your office last year regarding third

         21  party transfer. It was a third party transfer issue

         22  having do with tax liens and then we re- sent the

         23  letter and we're still awaiting a response. There

         24  was another brownfields bill out there that talked

         25  about lien sales and third party transfers and that
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          2  kind of thing.

          3                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Since that was not

          4  part of today's hearing, we'll have to get back to

          5  you on that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Let me just put

          7  out there, we are still looking for a response to

          8  that inquiry that we had forward to you. Thank you

          9  for looking into that for us..

         10                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Sure. We'll do that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I appreciate

         12  your coming here today and giving us the benefit of

         13  your views. I will continue to engage each other in

         14  this hopefully fruitful discussion.

         15                 MR. KULIKOWSKI: Great. Thank you very

         16  much. It was a pleasure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Bob.

         18  We appreciate it. Next witness is Mathy Stanislaus,

         19  the New Partners for Community Revitalization. It is

         20  like every word of your organization is positive,

         21  New Partners Community Revitalization. What's not to

         22  love? That's great. Mathy, pleasure to have you

         23  here. We appreciate everything that you do everyday

         24  to revitalize communities throughout the

         25  metropolitan area. Please give our best to Jody and
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          2  thank you for being here with us and I'll ask Donna

          3  DeCostanzo to give the oath and then you can state

          4  your name for the record and proceed with your good

          5  testimony.

          6                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

          7  raise your right hand. In the testimony that you are

          8  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

          9  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         10                 (Mr. Stanislaus's microphone is not

         11  turned on.)

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         13                 (Witness sworn.)

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Is your

         15  microphone on? The light has to be off. Try it now.

         16                 MR. STANISLAUS: My name is Mathy

         17  Stanislaus from New Partners for Community

         18  Revitalization. New Partners for Community

         19  Revitalization is a not- for- profit organization

         20  that is co- directed by Jody Kass and myself. The

         21  mission of NPCR is to bring together diverse

         22  stakeholders to advance the revitalization of New

         23  York's communities, with a particular focus on

         24  brownfield sites in and proximate to low and

         25  moderate income neighborhoods and communities of
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          2  color. This is being accomplished through the

          3  collaboration of non- traditional partners on

          4  policies, programs and projects aimed at achieving

          5  the sustainable reuse of brownfield sites in New

          6  York City. Activities also involve state- wide

          7  policy and program initiatives and strategic

          8  relationships with nonprofit regional partners.

          9                 Thank you for inviting us here today

         10  to share with you our thoughts on City Council

         11  Introduction 21. We support this bill. We'd like to

         12  first acknowledge Councilman Gennaro for his

         13  leadership on brownfields issues overall. Councilman

         14  Gennaro has been a long time advocate for

         15  communities and for the environment in general, and

         16  in particular, for responsible, sustainable

         17  brownfields cleanup and reuse. His leadership a year

         18  and a half ago helped to advance the Brownfield

         19  Opportunity Area Program in Albany.

         20                 He led the Council in adopting a

         21  resolution that prompted the finalization of the

         22  legislation memorandum of understanding that had

         23  been stalled in Albany for two years, which was

         24  delaying 50 neighborhoods from being awarded

         25  millions of dollars to begin planning for these
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          2  derelict sites. Also, in acknowledge of our work

          3  with Bob Kulikowski and always have a very fruitful

          4  relationship with them. Bob had mentioned the Metro

          5  Program Fund. So we have a very cordial relationship

          6  with OEC.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you for

          8  your kind words, Mathy. I appreciate that.

          9                 MR. STANISLAUS: Several recent

         10  studies have found that the City's population is

         11  expected to grow by one and a half million people

         12  over the next 25 years. To accommodate this growth,

         13  Mayor Bloomberg will soon be unveiling a Strategic

         14  Long Term Growth Plan, as reported in his State of

         15  the City address. So where will this growth be? As

         16  part of the Mayor's Long Term Growth Plan, the New

         17  York Times reported that the City's strategy is to

         18  explore opportunities for growth both Citywide and

         19  in 188 individual neighborhoods. Since the City's

         20  portfolio of developable land is dwindling and

         21  brownfields are nearly all that is left, clearly, a

         22  growth plan of this magnitude will need to include

         23  provisions to address the City's brownfields.

         24                 We believe that an important

         25  component of accommodating the City's projected
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          2  growth is a redevelopment strategy for brownfield

          3  sites that approaches these thousands of sites

          4  thoughtfully, comprehensively, and the context of

          5  the many competing pressures and needs. Indeed,

          6  Deputy Mayor Doctoroff is quoted in the New York

          7  Times article as recognizing that while the City may

          8  have the capacity to meet its future population

          9  growth needs through using under utilized lands, a

         10  livable City requires an integration of smart growth

         11  with its infrastructure requirements. Councilman

         12  Gennaro's bill, No. 21 is an important step in that

         13  direction. Moreover, we believe this bill should fit

         14  well with any long- term growth plan aimed at

         15  sustainability that the City may advance.

         16                 Our first observation about Intro No.

         17  21 is that it recognizes that the answer to New

         18  York's brownfields problems should not be grounded

         19  in deal flow. In other words, it is not about how to

         20  entice an outside developer to buy, clean up, and

         21  build, as- of- right, what will make him/her the

         22  most amount of money. That is the old thinking. That

         23  is not smart growth. What is needed, particularly in

         24  lower income communities, is a brownfields strategy

         25  whose centerplace is a strong community planning and
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          2  a redevelopment agenda.

          3                 For many low and moderate income New

          4  Yorkers who have been living in close proximity to

          5  derelict and under- utilized brownfield sites, these

          6  properties are viewed as opportunities to meet real

          7  and pressing community needs; such as affordable

          8  housing, good jobs, educational and community

          9  facilities, waterfront access and open space that

         10  are increasingly difficult to site in New York City

         11  due to rising land values. City Council Introduction

         12  No. 21 contains many smart growth provisions that

         13  both address the needs of New York's existing

         14  residents while also allowing for growth.

         15                 At the same time the City is crafting

         16  its Long Term Growth Strategy, it is worth noting

         17  that the regulatory and legislative landscape of

         18  brownfields is shifting. With the new federal and

         19  State comprehensive brownfield laws that create new

         20  programs, tools, resource and opportunities, now

         21  more than ever, the City needs to have a

         22  comprehensive brownfields program. Intro 21 does not

         23  create a prescriptive brownfields program for the

         24  City. Rather, it will help the City to develop a

         25  thoughtful, coordinated, balanced approach to
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          2  brownfields, through partnerships and the

          3  development of smart growth concepts. City Council

          4  Introduction 21 will also help to ensure that the

          5  City is well positioned to take advantage of the

          6  hundreds of millions of dollars annually that are

          7  now available for brownfields and will also help

          8  ensure the City has a comprehensive approach for

          9  integrating these resources into neighborhood

         10  planning efforts.

         11                 We have great hope that Mayor

         12  Bloomberg's Long Term Growth Strategy, once

         13  unveiled, will adequately accommodate the needs of

         14  future New Yorkers, while at the same time

         15  addressing the needs of people who currently live in

         16  these neighborhoods and we believe that passing

         17  Intro 21 now will help to ensure that the City

         18  develops a thoughtful brownfield strategy that is

         19  integrated into a longer term sustainable strategy.

         20  Here are some specific thoughts of the details of

         21  the legislation.

         22                 First, it encourages not- for- profit

         23  participation. We are especially pleased that the

         24  focus of Councilman Gennaro's bill is the clean up

         25  and reuse of brownfield sites that are located in
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          2  low and moderate income areas that are

          3  disproportionately burdened by the clustering of

          4  brownfield sites and the role that nonprofit

          5  community- based organizations should play in that

          6  reclamation. Too often projects advance in a

          7  community without the knowledge of locally based

          8  groups. Early engagement with the community on both

          9  the cleanup and reuse plan will be to the benefit of

         10  the community, the developer and the City. This bill

         11  mandates that the City develop an affirmative plan

         12  for coordinating efforts regarding brownfield

         13  planning, investigation, remediation, and

         14  redevelopment with community groups, other not- for-

         15  profit organizations, and government agencies.

         16                 More than anything else, a brownfield

         17  site is a redevelopment opportunity. While it is

         18  certainly complicated by environmental conditions,

         19  the cleanup generally will not occur except in the

         20  context of a developer's plan. In other words,

         21  brownfields redevelopment does not occur because of

         22  a good environmental investigation. It does not

         23  occur because of a good clean- up plan. It only

         24  occurs because of a good development plan within

         25  which you address the environmental contamination on
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          2  the site.

          3                 City agencies, particularly those

          4  that have a role in property disposition and

          5  development, can facilitate and incentivize the

          6  private sector to take the risk of redeveloping

          7  brownfield sites. Moreover, it is the leadership of

          8  the City collaborating on local community planning

          9  that is especially crucial to meeting the needs of

         10  lower income communities who are being threatened by

         11  gentrification and displacement.

         12                 It is instructive to note that the

         13  federal government's brownfields agenda originally

         14  was focused primarily on addressing environmental

         15  contamination issues. That agenda expanded to

         16  incorporate a development orientation ten years ago

         17  in response to local communities asking the

         18  question: What government resources are available to

         19  assist neighborhood efforts in the redevelopment of

         20  brownfield properties? Similarly, the City now needs

         21  to expand its agenda to integrate brownfields

         22  reclamation activities into its development

         23  programs.

         24                 Number two. It encourages State and

         25  federal brownfields resources. The City has a good
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          2  record for applying for and securing federal

          3  brownfield resources. However, because brownfield

          4  redevelopment involves not just environmental

          5  contamination, but also the full range of

          6  development issues; the City needs take a broad look

          7  at the potential resources that can assist a

          8  brownfields redevelopment project from other

          9  agencies beyond the US Environmental Protection

         10  Agency, including resources available from the

         11  Economic Development Administration, the Department

         12  of Transportation, the Department of Housing and

         13  Urban Development, et cetera.

         14                 We believe that a formalized

         15  reporting responsibility will both encourage more

         16  applications and help to ensure that funds that are

         17  secured for brownfield redevelopment projects and

         18  programs are spent in a timely manner. The regular

         19  tracking and reporting responsibility that the bill,

         20  City Council Introduction 21, would create will also

         21  encourage transparency and help to ensure that an

         22  appropriate level of effort is dedicated to

         23  advancing these programs.

         24                 In addition, the bill would require

         25  that the City develop a plan for developing
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          2  technical assistance to community groups involved in

          3  brownfield planning, investigation, remediation and

          4  redevelopment activities. This would help encourage

          5  local groups to apply for federal and State

          6  brownfield funds that are available to not- for-

          7  profit organizations.

          8                 Third, the Brownfield Advisory

          9  Committee. We strongly applaud the creation of the

         10  brownfield advisory committee, which would be

         11  comprised of a diverse set of stakeholders that

         12  would ensure that the various important perspectives

         13  are considered in the development of brownfield

         14  sites in New York City. It is precisely this type of

         15  collaboration that is necessary to ensure

         16  brownfields redevelopment is based on all interests,

         17  and in particular the interests of community

         18  residents and environmental justice.

         19                 NPCR believes that the City can reap

         20  tremendous benefits by having external stakeholders

         21  assist the City on its brownfields agenda. Indeed,

         22  the City has successfully integrated many

         23  stakeholders perspectives and resources into a City

         24  approach on housing, sustainability, and other

         25  complex and emerging issues. NPCR believes that the

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  insight of non- governmental stakeholders will be

          3  especially valuable because brownfields

          4  redevelopment requires partnerships between the

          5  City, local communities and the private sector.

          6                 The State has issued regulations to

          7  implement the Brownfield Cleanup Program, known as

          8  Part 375 regulations. These regulations do not

          9  adequately address the needs of urban centers. NPCR

         10  has testified at State- wide forums on the need for

         11  an Urban Advisory Committee to ensure that the

         12  complex needs of urban centers are accommodated. If

         13  the City had existing brownfields advisory committee

         14  in place, it would be positioned to provide a

         15  balanced, thoughtful testimony and comments on the

         16  new regulations and how it would need to accommodate

         17  the particular issues and needs of urban centers and

         18  particularly New York City.

         19                 No Inventory. We want to highlight

         20  our agreement that the underlying  philosophy of the

         21  bill of providing tools for the cleanup and

         22  redevelopment of brownfield properties, without

         23  relying on an overall measure of how many brownfield

         24  sites exist. We believe that an exercise in merely

         25  creating an inventory of sites would have the
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          2  unintended consequence of stigmatizing properties

          3  and the neighborhoods in which they sit and

          4  disincentivizing their redevelopment. Rather than

          5  attempting to spend the time and resources to

          6  identify and catalogue all of the City's

          7  brownfields, which we believe would be nearly

          8  impossible and counter- productive, this bill seeks

          9  to identify and monitor progress based on cleanups

         10  accomplished and projects developed. We believe this

         11  is the right approach.

         12                 Fifth. The BOA Program. This bill

         13  would require the City to develop a strategy to

         14  facilitate and implement the plans that emerge from

         15  the Brownfield Opportunity Area program. It also

         16  requires that the City to regularly report on their

         17  activities in connection with advancing applications

         18  from community- based organizations for the BOA

         19  funding. We simply ask the City Council to push the

         20  BOA program. We believe the BOA program is the most

         21  exciting part of the State's brownfields law and has

         22  tremendous potential once it gets underway.

         23                 However, it is a new program and

         24  consequently there are and likely continue to be

         25  many bumps in the road as the program advances.
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          2  There would be real value in the City developing and

          3  regularly updating a strategy to advance individual

          4  BOA projects and plans. In addition, the State

          5  Brownfields Law is sorely lacking in provisions and

          6  resources to implement the BOA plans. The City

          7  should lead by example and show the State and other

          8  municipalities that there is real value in this type

          9  of collaboration, smart growth planning and

         10  prioritizing resources to implement these plans.

         11                 The BOA program is crucial to

         12  rebuilding New York City communities and in

         13  particular its low- and moderate- income

         14  neighborhoods. The inclusion of the BOA program in

         15  the New York State Brownfields Law was due in large

         16  part to the advocacy of community- based

         17  organizations from low- income communities and

         18  environmental justice organizations from New York

         19  City, who saw the need for a new set of tools to

         20  catalyze the reuse of brownfield sites for community

         21  supported end uses. The premise of the BOA planning

         22  program is a recognition that only through a

         23  community- wide redevelopment strategy will the

         24  multiple of brownfields that burden predominately

         25  low- income communities be redeveloped to meet the
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          2  needs of these neighborhoods.

          3                 Unfortunately, State funds are not

          4  yet flowing to the 50 BOA recipients in Round 1 and

          5  there is a need to amend the legislative MOU to

          6  ensure that communities that are ready to advance

          7  from one stage to the next are not caught up in the

          8  seemingly interminable delays associated with

          9  amending the Legislative MOU. We ask the City

         10  Council to again consider passing a resolution

         11  calling on the State leaders to quickly approve the

         12  MOU to advance the second round of projects and to

         13  amend the MOU to institutionalize a mechanism so

         14  that BOA planning can advance from one stage to the

         15  next without losing momentum.

         16                 Separately, the New York Brownfield

         17  Law requires that state agencies give preference and

         18  priority for implementation funding for projects

         19  that are built consistent with an adopted BOA plan.

         20  Such preference and priorities is crucial to

         21  rebuilding low- income communities in New York City

         22  because it will incentivize development that meets

         23  community needs. Such preference and priority

         24  language needs to be institutionalized within each

         25  of the State agencies through programs and guidance.
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          2  We urge the City to similarly encourage the State

          3  agencies to advance the preference and priority

          4  language. With that I will stop there. There is

          5  more, but I have taken a lot of time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you so

          7  much Mathy for all of the work on brownfields and

          8  all of your great perspectives on this. We have been

          9  able to work very collaboratively with you on BOA

         10  and other things. It is really wonderful that you

         11  are doing everything that you do. Before I get to

         12  questions though, I want to recognize that we are

         13  joined by Council Member White, my neighboring

         14  Council Member and one who has a great history of

         15  building communities. Thank you for being here. This

         16  is what this hearing is all about. We are building

         17  communities here. This is wonderful. Thank you for

         18  being here.

         19                 It doesn't go right to the

         20  legislation, but I'm reading with interest about the

         21  State funds not going to the BOA grant recipients

         22  and the needs to a resolution to urge the State

         23  leaders to -- what do they have to do the MOU? We

         24  need like a second MOU or something. They got money

         25  for stage one, but not stage two. I thought they
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          2  were afraid of me these people. I guess they are not

          3  afraid of me. What happened?

          4                 MR. STANISLANS: Well, every time a

          5  decision to fund a BOA grant, they need to amend the

          6  MOU. And what we think is that it will hold up

          7  planning efforts. And what we are recommending is

          8  that one of the existing MOU for the second round be

          9  done as quickly as possible. But two,

         10  institutionalize an easy mechanism to go from stage

         11  one to stage two. But what will happen or may happen

         12  is that a community group is planning identified

         13  sites and then seeks additional funds to go onto

         14  stage two to identify specific use for that site.

         15                 If there is a gap of six months, nine

         16  months, 12 months, the communities have drawn

         17  attention to this area and site; the only people who

         18  are going to seek the advantage of their outside

         19  entities. So we think that gap is really hurtful for

         20  the community planning process. What we're

         21  suggesting is in the MOU itself, institutionalize a

         22  mechanism of very easily once a State determines

         23  that meets the criteria, funding may be made

         24  available assuming State funds are there.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. I
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          2  would just ask staff to work with Mathy to see how

          3  we can be of help in this. As you mentioned so

          4  graciously in your statement, that we were helpful

          5  once before and maybe we can be helpful again.

          6  Certainly we would like to be helpful. You heard the

          7  testimony of Bob Kulikowski who essentially said

          8  that this bill would place constraints on his and

          9  his offices ability to react to the changing

         10  landscape of brownfield rules and regulations and

         11  would hurt rather than help. You mentioned in your

         12  statement that our bill is non- restrictive. I just

         13  wanted ask you to comment on why you believe, which

         14  you presumably do, that this bill will not restrict

         15  in anyway City government or its mechanisms from

         16  fulfilling its brownfield missions.

         17                 MR. STANISLAUS: Sure. I guess I have

         18  two separate responses. We strongly believe that

         19  brownfield is a community development program.

         20  Regardless of what has happened in the State and

         21  federal law, the City needs to pull together as

         22  development resource and directed to make the right

         23  kinds of brownfield redevelopment occur that meets

         24  community needs. We also believe that if you have a

         25  strategy in place, your best position to influence
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          2  the State and federal program, as I mentioned in my

          3  comment about an advisory committee, I think that if

          4  we had an advisory committee in place, we would be

          5  able to pull together fairly quickly how the City

          6  conditions are much different than upstate.

          7                 Let's be blunt. To apply Statewide.

          8  We felt it avoided the unique conditions of New York

          9  City. I think it could only help to have a

         10  comprehensive plan to identify the issues in

         11  advance. I'll give the analogy. The housing

         12  landscape is changing everyday of the federal

         13  government. The City should not restrict itself

         14  despite the fact that the federal government is

         15  changing. In fact, I think the reverse is happening.

         16  Because the City has a plan in place, it has being

         17  pushing the federal government on its restriction on

         18  housing funding to say there are real world, real

         19  community impacts right now. I think that is

         20  happening because the City has already in place

         21  outside stakeholders already in place the kind of

         22  challenges of housing and is able to immediately

         23  respond when Congress or this Administration wants

         24  to restrict certain housing subsidies.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Yes, that's a
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          2  good point. With regard to the development of the

          3  State regulations and their kind of blind spot to

          4  New York City specific problems and the fact that we

          5  didn't have any sort organized working group or the

          6  City advisory committee in place, was there a lack

          7  of cohesive testimony on our part to sort of counter

          8  what was promulgated. How did we respond in the

          9  absence of having a City task force?

         10                 MR. STANISLAUS: Well, New Partners

         11  did work with OEC and HPD in terms of identifying

         12  some of the issues.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: But your point

         14  is had we had this task force in place, we would

         15  have been able to mobilize a very significant sort

         16  of push back to what was going on at the State

         17  level. This is really what you are trying to say.

         18                 MR. STANISLAUS: Yes, it's not only

         19  what you say, but having the facts to support it.

         20  Hopefully within the next round, we can pull

         21  together more facts. Bob had mentioned the whole

         22  issue of historic fill. We believe that it had the

         23  disproportionate negative consequence in New York

         24  City because DEC is kicking out historic fill sites.

         25  We estimate about one third of the land mass has
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          2  some kinds of historic fill.

          3                 We believe more acutely we will have

          4  disproportionate low- income neighborhoods because

          5  doing development like affordable housing is very

          6  difficult. The bottom line is you need to pay for

          7  the cost of digging and disposing of this historic

          8  fill. Some cost half a million dollars. Affordable

          9  housing is a fixed subsidy project. By the State

         10  basically not recognizing historic fill sites, they

         11  are basically saying of the available State

         12  resources, even though a project is impeded from

         13  moving forward, we don't think it is bad enough to

         14  get a State program.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Would it be far

         16  to say that the paradigm that the Administration is

         17  working under as an enlightened as they are about

         18  these issues and notwithstanding that level of

         19  knowledge and enlightened is taking kind of lazy

         20  affair approach whereas the paradigm which is

         21  envisioned under this bill is like a more proactive,

         22  strategic, community collaborative effort. Is this

         23  what we're looking at here like a difference in

         24  philosophies?

         25                 MR. STANISLAUS: I'm not going to

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  characterize it. Even as Bob recognized, brownfield

          3  redevelopment is a complex issue. Essentially what

          4  you are doing is you are laying brownfield

          5  redevelopment that is already complex with a

          6  brownfield component. We believe that but for a

          7  planned approach, you are almost fueling market rate

          8  housing. Why is that? Because only through the high

          9  margins of market rate housing can you do deal with

         10  the large uncertainties without a coordinated

         11  planned approach. We see it in the City. Some of the

         12  areas that no one would have thought of, there is a

         13  big push for market rate housing. We think that

         14  unless we have a planned approach, only through a

         15  planned approach, are we going to deal with things

         16  like affordable housing and communities facilities

         17   --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         19                 MR. STANISLAUS: -- And local job

         20  creation. Because the market does not drive equity.

         21  It does not provide for equity. The market is going

         22  to do what it is going to do.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

         24                 MR. STANISLAUS: I think it is the

         25  role of government to incentivize private sector to
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          2  do the right thing, but not leave it solely to the

          3  private sector. Because the private sector on its

          4  own gives the market will do what it wants to do to

          5  make the market more profit..

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right. The

          7  market will do what the market will do. There is

          8  nothing evil in that. But to the extent that we can

          9   -- it is just more difficult to do things like

         10  affordable housing and have a level of planning that

         11  is needed to get that done. Bob mentioned in his

         12  testimony the collaboration that exists with Nassau

         13  County on some mutual program that they have that

         14  also involves New Partners. He mentioned Nassau. Can

         15  you explain a little bit? It's not New York City,

         16  Nassau County, but they got a lot of sites that they

         17  want to redevelop and what kind of approach are they

         18  taking and is this bill that we are putting forward

         19  similar to what they are doing. Like what are they

         20  doing in Nassau County that we're not doing here and

         21  is that what this bill in your mind speaks too.

         22                 MR. STANISLAUS: Well, the Metro Loan

         23  Fund is really designed to meet a market gap. And

         24  the market gap is the provision of private capital

         25  to pay for mediation. There is private capital to
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          2  pay for construction and permit financing, but most

          3  banks are risk at first to lend us.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Right.

          5                 MR. STANISLAUS: There is a private

          6  source of capital brought to bear by the loan

          7  investment fund, the national non- profit lending

          8  institution and it pull dollars using community

          9  reinvestment credits. The City grant and Nassau

         10  county grant is used as a loan loss guarantee to the

         11  extent there are losses from lending on those

         12  projects. That is separate from an approach in terms

         13  of a local approach to brownfields and how you bring

         14  to bear resources. I can't really speak to what

         15  Nassau County is or is not doing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: I see. I have

         17  more questions, but I know that Council Member Mark-

         18  Viverito has questions. I'm going to recognize her

         19  for question or questions. Council Member Mark-

         20  Viverito.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

         22  you, Mr. Chair. Mr. Stanislaus, thank you very much

         23  for your testimony, very comprehensive. I think at

         24  least with regards to being supportive of the

         25  legislation that our Chairman has proposed and I

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  have definitely signed onto. I'm a big proponent of

          3  community- based planning, particularly in a

          4  district that is highly gentrifying and we really

          5  need to encourage and be true advocates, I feel I

          6  have to be, of having the community's voice heard in

          7  whatever planning takes place. What you have

          8  presented and what you've spoken to, wouldn't it be

          9   -- let me see if I can express it correctly because

         10  it is a little bit of a complicated issue that I'm

         11  trying to get a grip on.

         12                 Considering that there is a

         13  distinction between those brownfield sites that are

         14  in municipal hands, meaning the City owned lots, and

         15  then there are those that are in the hands of

         16  private developers or private owners and the way

         17  that this program works right now, it is incumbent

         18  upon the individual, I guess primarily to apply for

         19  cleanup or to be considered a brownfield site and

         20  get whatever tax credit, incentives, and whatever

         21  remediation that comes with that. Isn't in the case

         22  of the City owned lots that we would have more of an

         23  ability to control what happens to them? What

         24  happens to what kind of development may happen

         25  potentially on it and in what ways it will be

                                                            75

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  designated, rather it is for housing, rather it is

          3  for park land, rather it is for -- that's one

          4  question, I guess I have that we would probably have

          5  more control over that.

          6                 What level of control is in place

          7  right now the mechanisms that exist to maybe put

          8  pressure on private owners which own a brownfield

          9  site? They apply and it is considered a brownfield

         10  site, are there any requirements with any existing

         11  legislation that would force them to maybe make some

         12  of that land or make part of it, make it available

         13  for community benefit to a certain extent, whether

         14  it's going to be towards affording housing. I don't

         15  know if I am making myself clear. I'm just trying to

         16  see in what ways, what exist to have a level of

         17  influence with the private developers that are

         18  sitting on a brownfield site.

         19                 MR. STANISLAUS: Our view is both in

         20  terms of the existing State legislation and the

         21  City's proposed legislation, it should be primarily

         22  be about incentivizing the private sector and taking

         23  the risk to meet the community needs.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Right.

         25                 MR. STANISLAUS: We think that unless
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          2  you kind of make it easier in terms of bringing City

          3  resources to the table, you are limiting the ability

          4  to meet community needs. Again, I contrast the

          5  situation, if you don't resolve these kind of

          6  difficult situations, the developers will do what

          7  they will in terms of market rate housing. Because

          8  of the risk, they are going to ask for high reward

          9  in the back end.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Is

         11  there anything in place right now? For instance,

         12  they are getting tax credits, right?

         13                 MR. STANISLAUS: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: They

         15  would get tax credits if it is determined to be a

         16  brownfield site.

         17                 MR. STANISLAUS: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Is

         19  there anything that says if you are going to get

         20  these credits, therefore, you have to do x, y, z. If

         21  not, maybe that's something we need to look at.

         22                 MR. STANISLAUS: We think the tax

         23  right in its current form is problematic because it

         24  is not tied to local community planning.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Okay.
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          2                 MR. STANISLAUS: We are attempting to

          3  change it to make it more balanced. We think right

          4  now the tax right actually fuels the largest

          5  priciest projects and we think it runs counter to

          6  the use of limited public resources to incentivize

          7  needs that are community needs.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Right.

          9                 MR. STANISLAUS: The second part of

         10  your question, we also believe you need to

         11  incentivize the brownfield opportunity area planning

         12  program and right now there is not that direct

         13  connection with financial incentives and brownfield

         14  opportunity planning. We're working on that as well

         15  at the State level.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: All

         17  right. Thank you.

         18                 MR. STANISLAUS: In terms of City

         19  property disposition, again I think ideally in

         20  trying to figure out a way of disposing properties

         21  in a way that is consistent with local community

         22  planning, particularly in the lowest income

         23  neighborhoods, we have recommended an alternative

         24  bill where it really kind of distressed communities

         25  rather than having the properties being seized on a

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

          2  speculator. And have it somehow follow all the

          3  community planning process. There have been examples

          4  in the last few years where speculators have

          5  acquired taxes, as an example, held it on and gotten

          6  away with authentic community plans for site.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

          8  you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         10  you, Council Member. Mathy, we don't have any

         11  further questions for you. We really, really

         12  appreciate your strong support of this legislation

         13  and we are strong supporters as well of New Partners

         14  and I know will have many, many successful

         15  collaborations together. We are just talking amongst

         16  ourselves, myself and staff, about how we could be

         17  of help to give Albany another push on this MOU

         18  situation. We will be talking with you about that

         19  and look forward to working with you on it. Thanks

         20  again. And once again, give all of our best to Jody

         21  and all of our friends at New Partners.

         22                 MR. STANISLAUS: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: The next witness

         24  is a panel, Jae Watkins, hopefully I'm saying that

         25  correctly from UPROSE and Veronica Eady of New York
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          2  Lawyers for the Public Interest. And if anyone is

          3  here from West Harlem Environmental Action, WHEA,

          4  NRDC and the New York City Environmental Justice

          5  Alliance or anyone else. Okay. Donna DeCostanzo will

          6  give the oath and then you can state your name for

          7  the record and proceed with your statements. Thank

          8  you so much for being here.

          9                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Please

         10  raise your right hand. In the testimony that you are

         11  about to give, do you swear or affirm to tell the

         12  truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?

         13                 MS. WATKINS: Yes.

         14                 MS. EADY: Yes.

         15                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you so

         17  much. We have a copy of testimony from New York

         18  Lawyers, Veronica. And what is your name?

         19                 MS. WATKINS: I'm Jay Watkins from

         20  UPROSE.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Oh, fine. Okay.

         22  Whatever order you wish to proceed is fine.

         23                 MS. WATKINS: Good morning. Again, my

         24  name is Jae Watkins and I am the Environmental

         25  Justice Program Coordinator at UPROSE. I would first
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          2  like to thank the Committee for inviting us to

          3  participate in this hearing and to congratulate the

          4  Council on such a well- rounded and community

          5  inclusive piece of legislation. We are in support of

          6  this legislation.

          7                 UPROSE is an intergenerational

          8  community- based organization dedicated to the

          9  development of Southwest Brooklyn and the

         10  empowerment of our community primarily through broad

         11  and converging environmental, sustainable

         12  development, and youth justice campaigns. Through

         13  our comprehensive and diverse programming, UPROSE

         14  aims to ensure and heighten community awareness and

         15  involvement, develop participatory community

         16  planning practices, and promote sustainable

         17  development with justice and governmental

         18  accountability.

         19                 Sunset Park is a working class

         20  Latino, Asian, Arab and African- American

         21  neighborhood in southwest Brooklyn centered

         22  primarily on two and half miles of waterfront

         23  stretching from 15th to 65th streets. It was

         24  traditionally known for its bustling port, maritime

         25  commerce, and industrial development. But more
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          2  recently, its local residents have had to contend

          3  with increased air pollutions, micro toxins

          4  generated by multiple noxious facilities sited on

          5  the waterfront within the last two decades.

          6                 These environmental burdens include

          7  the Gowanus Expressway, a major diesel bus depot,

          8  waste transfer stations, numerous (including some

          9  illegal truck routes), four existing power plants

         10  and plans for two additionals. As a result of this

         11  infrastructure and other industrial uses and

         12  abandoned brownfields in the area, residents of

         13  Sunset Park have experienced a marked increase in

         14  respiratory diseases, asthma, and other public

         15  health threats. Insufficient planning has compounded

         16  these health problems contributable to a severe lack

         17  of green open space (less than a quarter acre per

         18  thousand residents), a lack of public waterfront

         19  access, a lack of recreational facilities and

         20  programming for our approximately 35,000 youth.

         21                 Sunset Park is currently facing a

         22  serious epidemic of childhood obesity and diabetes

         23  as a direct result of the quality of life of

         24  community residents, particularly the vulnerable

         25  residents living closest to the waterfront from 4th
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          2  Avenue down to 1st. Sunset Park has 1,100

          3  operational manufacturers. It also houses a

          4  significant number of brownfield sites representing

          5  the legacy of past manufacturers in the area. These

          6  brownfields present an opportunity for a greenway,

          7  access to the waterfront, sustainable development,

          8  and the creation of Sunset Park as a Green Port in

          9  Brooklyn.

         10                 Our work at UPROSE focuses on ways to

         11  rectify the environmentally destructive development

         12  model that has been imposed on the neighborhood by

         13  poor and inequitable planning practices. We feel

         14  that this local law could positively influence and

         15  work well with the brownfield regulations already

         16  put forth by the State. Using the recommendations

         17  from the perspective of our community, this

         18  legislation would create opportunities to develop

         19  idled and under used properties that currently

         20  plague our communities and restore the properties to

         21  productive, useful, and much needed areas for low-

         22  income housing and other facilities consistent with

         23  the needs of our community.

         24                 Instead of areas that contribute to

         25  and cause the displacement of our community members,
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          2  we envision this program as an opportunity to

          3  positively affect the quality of life of our

          4  community. Our specific recommendations are to

          5  suggest a specific analysis of end projects to

          6  ensure that these projects are beneficial to the

          7  communities and avoid displacement, to carefully

          8  consider any plans to create an incentive based

          9  program for brownfield remediation, and to ensure

         10  that there is an element of public participation

         11  included in the language of the law.

         12                 Community residents in Sunset Park,

         13  like many people living in communities that have

         14  been historically overburdened by environmental

         15  hazards, are currently facing problems of

         16  displacement as they attempt to proactively improve

         17  and remediate their communities. There is an urgent

         18  need to address gentrification, residential

         19  displacement, and manufacturing displacement in

         20  these communities. Although the remediation of

         21  brownfield sites is of high significance for us, it

         22  is equally important to ensure that once this land

         23  is usable and safe, that it will benefit the

         24  community in which it already exists.

         25                 These benefits can assume the form of
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          2  affordable housing, small business, recreational

          3  space and development consistent with the needs of

          4  the current population. Our specific concern is that

          5  these end projects after remediation will develop

          6  into projects that members of the existing

          7  communities will not be able to utilize, recreate,

          8  or live in because of the expensive price tags that

          9  may be attached to the end projects.

         10                 Our second recommendation is to place

         11  careful consideration into any incentive based

         12  programs to facilitate brownfield remediation.

         13  Although incentives are important to encourage the

         14  redevelopment of brownfield sites, we feel that

         15  these incentives should be severely scrutinized so

         16  that the incentives relate to the end project and

         17  that the end project specifically addresses the

         18  specific community needs. Therefore, we suggest

         19  incorporating the end project into the establishment

         20  of any incentive based program.

         21                 Our final recommendation is to

         22  include provisions to impart public participation

         23  through the process of each specific brownfield site

         24  cleanup. These provisions should include public

         25  access to the information concerning local
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          2  brownfield sites and going beyond a simple posting

          3  of information in order to encourage public

          4  participation throughout the process and by

          5  utilizing community- based organizations to

          6  facilitate the process of brownfield redevelopment.

          7                 These public participation goals

          8  should provide opportunities for citizen involvement

          9  and consultation as early as possible before any

         10  agency forms or adopts final positions and ensure

         11  the public's views are heard and considered,

         12  including opportunities for two- way dialogue

         13  between City departments, site owners, and the

         14  public. We congratulate the Council for deciding to

         15  develop a task force that would take steps toward

         16  public participation in any brownfield remediation.

         17                 These are our recommendations at

         18  UPROSE and we here at UPROSE and Sunset Park

         19  community that we represent, appreciates the chance

         20  to voice our opinion and to give recommendations on

         21  this very important issue. Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you, Ms.

         23  Watkins. We really appreciate your very, very

         24  comprehensive and thoughtful testimony. If I could,

         25  we would just like to get copy of your statement.
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          2                 MS. WATKINS: Sure.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We could have

          4  staff make a copy of that for you. I do have some

          5  questions and comments, but we will take the

          6  statement of the next witness first. But before we

          7  do that, I want to recognize that we are joined by

          8  Council Member Bill DeBlasio, co- chairman of the

          9  Brooklyn Delegation and part of the top leadership

         10  here at the Council. Thank you Council Member

         11  DeBlasio for being with us today. Our final witness,

         12  Veronica Eady. Am I saying that right?

         13                 MS. EADY: Certainly.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: We look forward

         15  to your statement. Just state your name for the

         16  record and you can commence and then I'll ask

         17  questions of both witnesses once you are finished

         18  with your statement.

         19                 MS. EADY: Good afternoon. My name is

         20  Veronica Eady and I am an attorney at New York

         21  Lawyers for the Public Interest, also known as

         22  NYLPI. NYLPI is a non- profit organization formed in

         23  1976 to provide legal, organizing, and technical

         24  assistance to under- represented communities in New

         25  York City. Since 1993, our Environmental Justice and
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          2  Community Development Project has offered legal

          3  assistance and community organizing resources to

          4  communities of color and low- income residents

          5  living in environmentally distressed neighborhoods.

          6                 We will soon release an updated

          7  edition of our free Brownfield Basics manual, and we

          8  have been working closely with communities across

          9  the five boroughs, including residents in Soundview,

         10  Bronx and Bushwick, Brooklyn that are seeking to

         11  clean up and redevelop several large vacant lots

         12  that serve as environmental, social, and economic

         13  nuisances in their neighborhoods.

         14                 We applaud the sponsors of Intro 21

         15  for the bill's strong stand on redeveloping

         16  brownfields and prioritizing communities of low and

         17  moderate income that are disproportionately burdened

         18  by the clustering of brownfield sites. This emphasis

         19  on chronic under utilization should be the

         20  touchstone of brownfields redevelopment. While we

         21  fully support Intro 21, there are several ways it

         22  can be strengthened. Specifically, Intro 21 should

         23  provide the City with more guidance on the details

         24  of the comprehensive program that it seeks to

         25  create.
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          2                 First, public participation in the

          3  brownfields process should be early and often.

          4  Unfortunately, the brownfields business has been

          5  regarded largely as a real estate deal and leaving

          6  communities out. Development in communities should

          7  ideally be driven and at a minimum actively

          8  supported by local residents. The City can foster

          9  community involvement by making information on

         10  development readily available to residents by making

         11  it available in a language that is accessible and

         12  relevant; lay language as well as the dominant

         13  language of the community, by facilitating

         14  distribution of information, especially on funding

         15  at all levels of government and technical assistance

         16  grants, and by encouraging developers to engage the

         17  public through public meetings and other vehicles.

         18  Any reports and strategies mandated by Intro 21, of

         19  course, should be readily available to the public

         20  without going through the process of freedom of

         21  information law.

         22                 In addition to the maximum extent

         23  possible, low- income communities should receive

         24  priority for the incentives over neighborhoods that

         25  have fewer obstacles to attracting development. The
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          2  City should explore methods for encouraging socially

          3  and environmentally responsible development such as

          4  affordable housing, green manufacturing, and

          5  sustainable businesses that will not result in new

          6  brownfields on top of old brownfield sites.

          7                 The City should also explore ways to

          8  prioritize projects that offer appreciable,

          9  quantifiable employment benefits to low- income host

         10  communities. For example, in some states, developers

         11  must demonstrate significant job development in

         12  order to avail themselves of certain incentive

         13  programs like liability protections. In the same

         14  spirit, the City should actively encourage

         15  development projects to hire brownfield workers from

         16  the Minority Worker Training Programs funded by the

         17  National Institute of Health Sciences and the

         18  Environmental Protection Agency. It should

         19  prioritize projects that result in long- term and

         20  again, quantifiable job benefits to the local

         21  community.

         22                 As New York City grows and bolsters

         23  its inventory of public schools, it should be

         24  especially cognizant of the public health threats

         25  associated with the construction or leasing of
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          2  schools on contaminated sites. The comprehensive

          3  program mandated by Intro 21 should expressly

          4  require that prior to opening a school on a

          5  brownfield site, that the site be put through a

          6  rigorous and environmental review that involves

          7  notification and input of local residents, parents,

          8  and school facility.

          9                 The City should develop methods for

         10  coordinating tax incentive programs that are broader

         11  than the brownfields programs, such as empire zone

         12  tax credits or empowerment zone tax credits so the

         13  developers and the communities can consider the

         14  entire menu of incentives that are incorporated into

         15  a project.

         16                 Finally, the City should develop a

         17  strategy for assisting brownfields projects that

         18  fall outside the scope of the State's brownfields

         19  program. We've heard a lot of testimony on this.

         20  Thus far, the State has shown a bias against

         21  admitting sites that contain historic fill material

         22  and sites that are not severely contaminated. The

         23  City needs to develop a contingency plan for

         24  offering incentives to projects proposed on such

         25  sites. Additionally, the City should aggressively
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          2  seek to persuade the State to curtail this sort of

          3  bias that can potentially carve most of New York

          4  City sites out of the State Brownfields Cleanup

          5  Program.

          6                 Again, we appreciate this opportunity

          7  to provide testimony on Intro 21, which we view as a

          8  positive step toward building an effective

          9  brownfields program in New York City and a positive

         10  step toward alleviating the environmental burden in

         11  the City's low- income neighborhoods and

         12  neighborhoods of color.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

         14  you, Ms. Eady. I'm happy and proud to say that

         15  hearing both of your statements, we picked up two

         16  more sponsors to the bill in the last five minutes;

         17  Council Member DeBlasio and Council Member Stewart.

         18  Good job. Good job. It wasn't until they heard from

         19  you that you pushed them over the edge. That was

         20  great. This kind of expertise that you bring to the

         21  table and your deep roots in the community is

         22  exactly what the City institutionally has to sort of

         23  like weave into all of their overall brownfields

         24  vision. Only you folks can kind of bring that to the

         25  table. That's why we are so strong on this task
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          2  force concept that so we have to have the City

          3  working arm and arm with the community; even if we

          4  force them to do it through the task force. We

          5  really appreciate your strong support for the bill.

          6                 We have Ms. Eady's statement and Ms.

          7  Watkins we need a copy of your statement. Did they

          8  take it already? Did the Sergeant take it or

          9  whatever? Okay. Fine. Because we need all of those

         10  good ideas as we go forward. Jae, I want you to

         11  please say hi to Elizabeth for us.

         12                 MS. WATKINS: Sure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Give her all of

         14  our best wishes. I think you guys may be slated for

         15  a BOA grant or whatever. How is that working? As we

         16  mentioned before about some problems with funding

         17  and that kind of thing, how is that going?

         18                 MS. WATKINS: It is complicated and we

         19  are still working through. We have to make the

         20  deadline at the end of the month. It is a wait

         21  period. I can't say yea or nay at this point.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Okay. You heard

         23  that we are going to be working with Mathy to try to

         24  give the State a little bit of a nudge for this

         25  second MOU or whatever it is. I have to get fully
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          2  briefed on what it is. We have been made aware of

          3  the fact that we can be of help and we want to do

          4  that again.

          5                 MS. WATKINS: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON GENNARO: Thank you. Thank

          7  you for being out there and working in the

          8  communities 24/7. We are really happy and proud that

          9  you came on board and you picked me up two new

         10  sponsors. Thank you. I appreciate that. With no one

         11  else wishing to be heard, this hearing is adjourned.

         12                 (Meeting adjourned at 12:13 p.m.)
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